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July 31, 2008

The Honorable ROBERT C. BYRD

President Pro Tempore of the Senate, Washington, D.C. 20510
The Honorable NANCY PELOSI

Speaker of the House of Representatives, Washington, D.C. 20515

DEAR SENATOR BYRD AND SPEAKER PELOSI:

We are pleased to transmit the record of our June 19, 2008 public hearing on “The
Memorandum of Agreement Between the United States and China Regarding Prison Labor
Products.” The Floyd D. Spence National Defense Authorization Act (amended by Pub. L.
No. 109-108, section 635(a)) provides the basis for this hearing, stating that the Commission
shall examine “...the degree of non-compliance by the People's Republic of China with
agreements between the United States and the People's Republic of China on prison labor
imports... and United States enforcement policies with respect to such agreements.” The
agreements in question are a 1992 Memorandum of Agreement (MOU) that prison-made
products will not be exported from China to the United States, and a subsequent 1994
Statement of Cooperation (SOC) that more explicitly defines the investigation and resolution
procedures for alleged cases of prison-made goods.

The hearing was organized into two panels. The first panel focused on China’s prison
labor system, commonly termed the laogai (“reform through labor”), and on the export of
Chinese prison-made products to the United States. The panel featured testimony by Mr.
Harry Wu, the Executive Director of the Laogai Research Foundation and himself a former
political prisoner in the laogai system. It also featured testimony by Mr. Gary Marck, a
businessman who professes first-hand knowledge of Chinese prison-made imports entering
the United States, and Mr. Daniel Ellis of the law firm of Lydy & Moan in Toledo, Ohio,
who is Mr. Marck’s legal counsel.

Mr. Wu offered a harsh assessment of the efficacy of the 1992 MOU and the subsequent
1994 SOC, stating that “...these bilateral agreements have done little to uphold United States
law or to promote the respect of human rights as a key element of U.S. foreign policy.
Rather, they have only served to provide the PRC with diplomatic cover that it can use to
defend itself in the face of criticism regarding the export of prison labor products.” He went
on to describe a long history of Chinese government obstruction of the implementation of the
provisions of the MOU and SOC, including denials and lengthy delays in acting on U.S.
government requests to inspect alleged prison factory facilities in accordance with the
stipulations of these agreements. He also discussed a June 2008 report by the Laogai
Research Foundation, titled Laogai Forced Labor Camps Listed in Dun & Bradstreet
Databases. Mr. Wu stated that the report identifies 314 different prison facilities that are
linked to commercial enterprises, thereby indicating a significant economic role for many of
the prisons of the laogai network.

Following this, Mr. Marck and Mr. Ellis offered a case study setting out their views of
how Chinese prison-made products enter the United States in violation of U.S. law, and of



the ways in which this can affect American businesses. Mr. Marck, who operates a
wholesaling company that markets drinkware products, is involved in ongoing litigation with
a competitor whom Mr. Marck has claimed was underselling him by importing ceramic
coffee mugs produced at a Chinese prison factory. Mr. Marck conducted a private
investigation that he said identified the Luzhong Prison in Shandong Province as the point of
origin for the mugs in question, and he further identified a company named Shandong Zibo
Maolong Ceramic Factory as a “front” company for the prison’s products. Mr. Marck
claimed that this unfair competition had both negatively impacted his business and forced
him to spend significant time and money pursuing his investigation and litigation.

Responding to questions from the Commissioners, Mr. Marck asserted that he had
received very little assistance from agencies of the U.S. government, opining that U.S.
Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) of the Department of Homeland Security had
insufficient resources and authority inside China to assist effectively with such cases. Mr.
Marck and Mr. Ellis recommended that the burden of proof be shifted to U.S. importers,
requiring them to certify that their imported products were not produced by prison labor. He
further recommended that companies be granted a “private right of action” to pursue alleged
customs violations by their competitors. Finally, he recommended that falsifications of
product origin labeling be pursued and prosecuted as violations of the Lanham Act of 1947,
which prohibits trademark infringement, trademark dilution, and false advertising. The
Commission will conduct further research on these and other matters related to prison labor
imports — particularly the recommendation of Mr. Ellis that Congress grant a “private right of
action” — in order to more fully understand the complexities of these issues prior to providing
policy recommendations in its annual report later this year.

The second panel examined the state of Chinese government compliance with the
provisions of the 1992 MOU and 1994 SOC, and whether any changes to those instruments
might be needed. This panel featured the testimony of Mr. James Ink, Deputy Assistant
Director of the Office of International Affairs, ICE. (ICE is the federal agency that has been
given primary responsibility for working with Chinese officials to investigate and resolve
alleged cases of prison labor goods exported to the United States, although Customs and
Border Protection (CBP) would be the responsible agency for actually issuing detention
orders against any manufacturers identified as being involved in such activity.) The
Commission also was very interested in having a representative of the U.S. State Department
speak to the diplomatic aspects of this issue. Regrettably, however, despite repeated
invitations extended through both informal and formal channels, the State Department
declined to send a representative to participate in the hearing.

Although he did not directly characterize it as such, both Mr. Ink’s prepared statement and
his answers to Commissioners’ questions revealed that Chinese government cooperation with
the United States to fulfill the requirements of the MOU and SOC pertaining to prison labor
products has been very poor. The 1994 SOC stipulates that “...if the United States
government, in order to resolve specific outstanding cases, requests a visit to a suspected
facility, the Chinese government will, in conformity with Chinese laws and regulations and
in accordance with the MOU, arrange for responsible United States diplomatic mission
officials to visit the suspected facility within 60 days of the receipt of a written request.”
However, Mr. Ink indicated that there are currently 13 outstanding requests by ICE officials
for on-site inspections of alleged prison labor facilities, dating back to 1994. He also
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indicated that contacts between representatives of China’s Ministry of Justice and ICE
representatives in China have been sporadic in recent years. He stated that contacts halted in
2003 in the wake of the outbreak of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS), resumed
from 2004 to 2006, stopped again for two years, and only resumed in June 2008. In response
to Commissioners’ questions, Mr. Ink also acknowledged that ICE maintains no central
database of alleged prison labor product cases, but stated that local ICE offices maintain
greater awareness of such issues within their geographical areas of concern. When asked
directly whether he regards the prison labor MOU and SOC as effective, Mr. Ink responded
that they could be if the 60-day timeframe for site inspections were actually observed, and he
recommended continued diplomatic engagement as the best means to pursue progress on this
issue. When asked whether or not he believes that private business interests should be
granted a private right of action — as recommended by Mr. Ellis — Mr. Ink demurred, but
suggested that private sector businesspeople could provide information to ICE that ICE could
use to take action through government channels.

The prepared statements of the hearing witnesses can be found on the Commission’s
website at www.uscc.gov, and the complete hearing transcript also will be made available on
the website. Members of the Commission are available to provide more detailed briefings.
We hope the information from this hearing will be helpful as the Congress continues its
assessment of U.S.-China relations. In its 2008 Annual Report that will be submitted to
Congress in November 2008, the Commission will examine in greater depth these and the
other issues enumerated in its statutory mandate.

Sincerely yours,

Larry M. Wortzel Carolyn Bartholomew
Chairman Vice Chairman

cc: Members of Congress and Congressional Staff
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THE MEMORANDA OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN
THE U.S. AND CHINA REGARDING PRISON LABOR
PRODUCTS

THURSDAY, JUNE 19, 2008

U.S. CHINA ECONOMIC AND SECURITY REVIEW
COMMISSION

Washington, D.C.

The Commission met in Room 418, Russell Senate Office
Building at 8:55 a.m., Chairman Larry M. Wortzel and Commissioner
Peter Videnieks (Hearing Cochairs), presiding.

OPENING STATEMENT OF COMMISSIONER PETER VIDENIEKS
HEARING COCHAIR

COMMISSIONER VIDENIEKS: We'd like to start the hearing
now. The hearing is going to be on the Memoranda of Agreement
Between the United States and China Regarding Prison Labor Products.

I'd like to welcome everybody here and to extend a special note
of thanks to Chairman Akaka and members of his staff of the Senate
Veterans Affairs Committee for providing us with the use of their
hearing room for today's proceedings.

The continuing importation into the United States of products
produced by prison labor remains a topic of serious concern to many in
both Congress and the broader public. Although formal agreements
have been made between the U.S. and Chinese governments to stop the
export of prison labor goods to the U.S., the practice nonetheless
continues.

Officials who deal with prison labor issues in the U.S. Embassy
in China have recently identified a number of products produced for
retail sale by prison labor, including artificial flowers, Christmas
decorations, shoes and garments.



At least some of these items are making their way into the U.S.
market and two of our witnesses here today will illustrate a case study
of how illicit prison labor goods are making their way to American
store shelves. This practice not only provides a powerful financial
incentive for officials who control prison labor facilities to continue
and expand such production, but also hurts legitimate U.S.
businesspeople who are trying to play by the rules.

One of the main reasons that information on Chinese prison labor
goods is limited is due to the fact that the Chinese government treats
such information as a state secret. The Chinese government also has a
very questionable record of compliance with its agreements related to
prison labor products.

U.S. officials attempting to implement the provisions of these
agreements have described China as a challenging operating
environment and have often found their Chinese counterparts to be
either unresponsive or actually obstructive.

Today, we will be examining the overall state of the Chinese
government compliance with the provisions from the 1992 and 1994
agreements related to prison labor products, and seeking greater clarity
on the issue as we consider the policy recommendations that we will
present to Congress later in the year.

I would like to introduce the panelists, and the questions will be
addressed in that order.

Mr. Harry Wu is an American activist for human rights in the
People's Republic of China. He's now a citizen of the United States
and Mr. Wu spent 19 years in Chinese labor camps for which he
popularized the term "laogai." He established the Laogai Research
Foundation, a nonprofit research and public education organization.

Second would be Mr. Gary G. Marck. Mr. Marck is President of
G.G. Marck & Associates, an importer and distributor of drinkware
products with offices and warehouses in Toledo, Ohio and Mira Loma,
California. He has worked in this industry for over 30 years and holds
a number of U.S. patents for drinkware related products.

Next is Mr. Ellis, Daniel T. Ellis. He is a partner in the law firm
of Lydy & Moan, Ltd., located in Sylvania, Ohio. His practice
includes commercial litigation involving contract disputes, unfair
competition and international trade issues for both defendants and
plaintiffs.

He's also actively involved in civil rights and constitutional
issues related to an individual's right to bear arms under the Ohio and
U.S. Constitutions. He regularly practices in state as well as federal
courts.

I'd like to now turn to Mr. Wu to begin his testimony.



STATEMENT OF MR. HARRY WU, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
THE LAOGAI RESEARCH FOUNDATION, WASHINGTON, D.C.

MR. WU: Thank you. It has been 16 years since the government
of the United States committed itself to ensuring compliance with its
own trade law with respect to the People's Republic of China. A
Memorandum of Understanding, MOU, signed in 1992, and a Statement
of the Cooperation, SOC, signed in 1994, were intended to provide the
United States government with the tools that it needs to guarantee that
products made by prison or other forced labor would not be imported
into the United States from the PRC, in accordance with Section 307 of
the Tariff Act of 1930, which prohibits the importation of any products
made by prison labor into the United States.

Unfortunately, in my opinion, these bilateral agreements have
done little to uphold United States law or to promote respect for
human rights as a key element of U.S. foreign policy.

Rather, they have only served to provide the PRC with
diplomatic cover that it can use to defend itself in the face of criticism
regarding the export of prison labor products.

The MOU and SOC establish agreed-upon procedures for the
United States to investigate allegations that such products have been
imported into the country from China. Since the beginning of the
fiscal year 2005, the task of investigating and enforcing laws and
regulations prohibiting the importation of forced labor products into
the United States has fallen under the jurisdiction of the U.S.
Immigration and Customs Enforcement, ICE.

ICE can request that China investigate prison labor allegations
pertaining to exports to the United States. It can request for U.S.
Embassy officials to visit prisons alleged to produce products for
export in order to verify that any such goods are being exported to the
United States.

As of 2005, there were three officers assigned to the ICE Attaché
in Beijing who were charged with conducting such investigations.

It is the duty of the U.S. Customs and Border Protection, CBP, to
issue enforcement actions regarding suspected importation of prison
labor products. The CBP can enter Withhold Release Orders, more
commonly referred to as detention orders, when there is information
available that reasonably, but not conclusively, indicates that imported
merchandise has been produced with forced or indentured labor.

Subsequently, if an investigation concludes that there is probable
cause that a class of merchandise, originating from a particular
manufacturer, facility or distributor, is produced with forced or



indentured labor, the CBP may issue a finding and entry of said
merchandise is denied.

I want to give an example: the most recent investigation that
was included in the report is a site visit in April 2005 conducted at the
Fuyang General Machinery Factory. U.S. Embassy officials had first
requested to visit this site in 1995, ten years earlier. Surely, site
visits conducted a decade after information suggesting a violation had
occurred was first received, and negotiated with Chinese authorities
well in advance of the actual date of the visit, cannot be expected to
yield any meaningful information that could be used to make a
determination with respect to the allegations.

Not surprisingly, no evidence of exports to the United States of
products manufactured by prison labor was found during any of the
prison site visits. So this has remained an open case.

Since its founding in 1992, the Laogai Research Foundation has
attempted to monitor the state of affairs in China's Laogai facilities,
including the scope of their economic activity. "Laogai" literally
means “reform through labor,” and although the Chinese stopped using
the word internally in 1994, the evidence that my foundation has
gathered suggests that forced labor is as much a part of the prison
system today as it ever was.

We found that more than 1,000 Laogai camps exist in China
today. And recently, the Laogai Research Foundation conducted a
research project to assess the degree to which products made within
the Laogai are exported by China.

So we compared our Laogai Handbook with two online Dun &
Bradstreet databases--Dun & Bradstreet claims to be the world's
leading source of commercial information and insight on businesses--
and we found a total of 314 separate entries for Laogai camps in the
Dun & Bradstreet databases. Those 314 entries in the Dun &
Bradstreet databases represent 256 different Laogai camps, or
approximately 25 percent of the total number of the Laogai camps
identified as of 2006.

A total of 65 entries in the Dun & Bradstreet databases contain
the word "prison™ in their name. And the 314 entries in the Dun &
Bradstreet databases include Laogai camps in 28 of 31 province level
divisions.

The 314 entries for Laogai camps found in the Dun & Bradstreet
databases represent 72 different products and/or product categories.

So | ask that this Commission remind our government, the United
States government, that progress in this matter should not be treated as
a political issue but as a legal issue. The law is clear in this matter:
products produced by prison labor are prohibited from being imported
into the United States regardless of the ramification that enforcement
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of the prohibition may have on relations with other countries. We can
even go to court to sue the American government, because they did not
follow the law. It is not a political issue.

So as a first step, | recommend that the MOU between the United
States and the PRC be revoked, as it has been proven to be totally
ineffective in providing enforcement of United States law.

Thank you.

[The statement follows:]*

COMMISSIONER VIDENIEKS: Thank you.
Mr. Marck.

STATEMENT OF MR. GARY G. MARCK, PRESIDENT
G.G. MARCK & ASSOCIATES, INC.
TOLEDO, OHIO

MR. MARCK: Members of the Commission and staff, I would
like to thank you for this opportunity to discuss the United States'
relationship with the People's Republic of China as it relates to the
importation of forced labor products.

My view reflects the experiences of an American importer of
ceramic products with first-hand day-to-day knowledge of the ceramic
industry in China and as a part owner of two ceramic factories in
China. Additionally, | frequently travel to the manufacturing facilities
in China to address issues related to the production and importation of
ceramic products into the United States.

Specific to this hearing, | have knowledge related to the
importation of ceramic coffee mugs that were made in whole or part
with prison labor.

G.G. Marck & Associates was founded in 1986 to provide
products to the drinkware decorating industry, mainly sold as
promotional products. Marck has offices and warehouses in Toledo,
Ohio and Mira Loma, California. Marck is a leading wholesaler of
ceramic glass, stainless steel and plastic products to the drinkware
decorating industry in the United States with over 2,000 customers.

Marck sources products domestically as well as imports from
China, India, Thailand, Taiwan, Colombia, Turkey and France.

In 2004, in an effort to avoid its loss of its source of ceramic
products, Marck bought a minority interest in two Chinese ceramic
factories.

During this hearing, | would like to highlight the difficulties
faced by U.S. companies that comply with the laws of the United

1 Click here to read the prepared statement of Mr. Harry Wu
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States by importing products from factories that do not use forced or
prison labor in the production of their products.

Many foreign exporters and some U.S. importers ignore U.S. law
to gain a competitive advantage, albeit an un unlawful one. The law
abiding companies must choose to exit the business because the price
in which the product is sold cannot be matched by lawful means or join
in the unlawful importation of products from prison factories.

Additionally, the Chinese and American agencies responsible for
enforcing the laws and regulations have not taken adequate measures
to ensure that all competitors have met these laws and regulations.

Ultimately, without the assistance and intervention of the
responsible Chinese and U.S. governmental agencies, law abiding
companies, both in the U.S. and in China, will continue to go out of
business and cease to exist.

The loss of these law-abiding companies impacts the United
States through its loss of tax revenue and American workers because of
the loss of jobs.

Marck has knowledge from a variety of sources including
eyewitness evidence that ceramic coffee mugs produced at the Luzhong
Prison of Shandong Province are being exported to the United States.

Since it is against Chinese laws for prison-made goods to be
exported, the goods made at Luzhong need to be exported by another
company. The Shandong Zibo Maolong Ceramic Factory is the front
for Luzhong. Details of our investigations have been provided to the
Commission.

There are two separate prison camps for Luzhong. One is for
hard core, long-term prisoners, and the other is what is referred to as
Re-education through Labor Facility. It may be semantics, but the
Chinese do not call this a prison. It is the Re-education through Labor
Facility that houses political and other petty criminals that are
rehabilitated through work.

It is this Re-Education through Labor Facility that makes the
ceramic coffee mugs. Maolong is a small facility just outside the main
gate of Luzhong. It has limited capacity to manufacture mugs and | do
not believe it has ever made mugs. It is the front company used by
Luzhong to export its mugs to the United States.

In order to get these goods to the U.S., there has to be an
importer. A number of U.S. importers are importing mugs made at
Luzhong and exported by Maolong. Most of these importers are aware
of the Luzhong-Maolong relationship but choose to ignore the fact that
prison labor was used to make their mugs because of the price
advantage they receive.

This relationship unlawfully benefits the three parties involved.
Maolong makes profit from the export of the Luzhong mugs. Shandong



Province benefits as they make profit from the prison. Lastly, the U.S.
importer that purchases the mugs from Maolong benefits from the low
cost prison-made mugs.

The losers are the Chinese and U.S. companies that compete with
these prison-made goods, ultimately causing the loss of jobs. China
also loses as the prisons do not pay taxes as do the voluntary labor
ceramic factories.

So once Maolong drives all the other ceramic factories in China
out of business, they will have no tax income. Each year the number
of viable manufacturing facilities declines because they can't sell their
products at the same price as the prison-made products and still remain
profitable.

Finally, the United States loses tax revenue directly related to
the closing of businesses that cannot compete with prison-made goods.

It is Marck's belief that by increasing agency and private party
remedies available, there will be significant increase in the effective
enforcement of existing laws and regulations prohibiting the entry of
prison-made goods into the U.S. market.

Marck submitted suggestions and concerns to this Commission
on March 18, 2008, in a written statement about, quote, "China's
Expanding Global Influence: Foreign Policy Goals, Practices, and
Tools." A copy has been provided.

Additionally, Marck appeared before the International Trade
Commission's investigation, quote, "China: Government Policies
Affecting U.S. Trade in Selected Sectors,” testifying to the effects of
prison labor on its business and how importation of prison-made goods
amounts to an unlawful government subsidy.

Marck strongly favors the recommendations made by this
Commission in its May 3, 2002 letter to the Senate Finance Committee,
suggesting that enforcement would be significantly enhanced by:

One, requiring the importer of record to certify that goods were
not made by prison labor;

Two, by blocking imports from facilities where inspections by
U.S. Customs were not allowed within 60 days of the request to
inspect;

Three, by maintaining a list of suspected companies to make
available to U.S. importers so they could avoid importing products
from these companies; and

Fourth, requiring that bond be posted if a suspected company is
used.

Additionally, Marck would suggest the following:

One, give domestic companies the ability to enforce the
prohibition on importation of prison or forced labor goods into the
United States;



Two, require that the name of the factory that produces the
product be on Customs paperwork. Currently, a trading company can
be listed as the exporter, and there is no way to know where the
products were actually produced;

Third, if the importer of record's certification is challenged, a
shift of burden to the importer to determine that the factory producing
the product was not using forced labor in the production of the
products and require it to assist in any inspection of the manufacturing
facility by an independent monitoring agency.

Without swift and clear action by the United States Congress,
American companies will continue to go out of business and American
workers will lose their jobs.

Thank you again for this opportunity. I look forward to
answering your questions.

[The statement follows:]

Prepared Statement of Mr. Gary G. Marck, President
G.G. Marck & Associates, Inc.
Toledo, Ohio

Members of the Commission and Staff, | would like to thank you for this opportunity to discuss the United
States’ Relationship with the Peoples Republic of China as it relates to the Importation of Forced Labor
Products. My view reflects the experiences of an American Importer of Ceramic Products with first-hand,
day-to-day knowledge of the ceramic industry in China and as a part owner in two ceramic factories in
China. Additionally, | frequently travel to the manufacturing facilities in China to address issues related to
the production and importation of ceramic products into the United States. Specific to this Hearing, | have
knowledge relating to the importation of ceramic coffee mugs that were made in whole or part with prison
labor.

G.G. Marck & Associates, Inc. (“Marck™) was founded in 1986 to provide products to the drinkware
decorating industry, mainly sold as promotional products. Marck has offices and warehouses in Toledo,
Ohio and Mira Loma, California. Marck is a leading wholesaler of ceramic, glass, stainless steel and plastic
products to the drinkware decorating industry in the USA, with over 2000 customers. Marck sources
products domestically as well as imports from China, India, Thailand, Taiwan, Columbia, Turkey and
France. In 2004, in an effort to avoid its loss of its source of ceramic products, Marck bought a minority
interest in two Chinese ceramic factories.

During this hearing, | would like to highlight the difficulties faced by U.S. Companies that comply with the
laws of the United States by importing products from factories that do not use forced or prison labor in the
production of their products. Many foreign exporters and some U.S. importers ignore U.S. laws to gain a
competitive advantage, albeit an unlawful one. The law abiding companies must choose to exit the business
because the price in which the product is sold cannot be matched by lawful means or join in the unlawful
importation of products from prison factories. Additionally the Chinese and American agencies responsible
for enforcing the laws and regulations have not taken adequate measures to ensure that all competitors have
met those laws and regulations. Ultimately, without the assistance and intervention of the responsible
Chinese and U.S. governmental agencies, law abiding companies both in the U.S. and in China will
continue to go out of business and cease to exist. The loss of these law abiding companies impacts the



Unites States through its loss of tax revenue and American workers because of the loss of jobs.

Marck has knowledge, from a variety of sources, including eyewitness evidence, that ceramic coffee mugs
produced at the Luzhong Prison of Shandong Province (“Luzhong”) are being exported to the U.S. Since it
is against Chinese Laws for prison made goods to be exported, the goods made at Luzhong need to be
exported by another company. The Shandong Zibo Maolong Ceramic Factory (“Maolong™) is the “front”
for Luzhong. Details of our investigations have been provided to the Commission.

There are two separate prison camps for Luzhong. One is for hard core, long term prisoners and the other is
what is referred to as a Re-education thru Labor Facility (RTL). It may be semantics, but the Chinese do
not call this a prison. It is a Re-Education through Labor Facility that houses political and other petty
criminals that are rehabilitated through work. It is this RTL facility that makes the coffee mugs.

Maolong is a small facility just outside the main gate of Luzhong. It has limited capacity to manufacture
mugs. | do not believe it has ever made mugs. It is the “front” company used by Luzhong to export its
mugs to the U.S. In order to get those goods to the U.S. there has to be an importer. A number of U.S.
importers are importing mugs made at Luzhong and exported by Maolong. Most of these importers are
aware of the Luzhong-Maolong relationship but chose to ignore the fact that prison labor was used to make
their mugs because of the price advantage they receive.

This relationship unlawfully benefits the three parties involved. Maolong makes profit from the exports of
the Luzhong mugs. Shandong Province benefits as they make profits from the prison (RTL). Lastly the
U.S. importers that purchase the mugs from Maolong benefit from the low cost prison made mugs.

The losers are the Chinese and U.S. companies that compete with these prison made goods, ultimately
causing the loss of jobs. China also loses as the prisons do not pay taxes as do the voluntary labor ceramic
factories, so once Maolong drives all the other ceramic factories in China out of business they will have no
tax income. Each year the number of viable manufacturing facilities decline because they can’t sell their
product at the same price as the prison made product and still remain profitable. Finally, the United States
loses tax revenue directly related to the closing of businesses that can’t compete with prison made goods.

It is Marck’s belief that by increasing agency and private parties remedies available, there will be a
significant increase in the effective enforcement of existing laws and regulations prohibiting the entry of
prison made goods into the U.S. market. Marck submitted suggestions and concerns to this Commission on
March 18, 2008 in a written statement about “China’s Expanding Global Influence: Foreign Policy Goals,
Practices and Tools”, a copy has been provided. Additionally Marck appeared before the International
Trade Commission’s Investigation; “China: Government Policies Affecting U.S. Trade in Selected
Sectors” testifying to the effects of prison labor on its business and how importation of prison made goods
amounts to an unlawful government subsidy.

Marck strongly favors the recommendations made by this Commission in its May 3, 2002 letter to the
Senate Finance Committee, suggesting that enforcement would be significantly enhanced by:

1) Requiring the importer of record to certify that goods were not made by prison labor;

2) By blocking imports from facilities where inspections by U.S. Customs (CBP) were not
allowed within 60 days of the request to inspect;

3) By maintaining a list of suspected companies to make available to U.S. importers so they could
avoid importing products from those companies; and



4) Requiring that bond be posted if a suspected company is used.
Additionally Marck would suggest the following:

1) Give domestic companies the ability to enforce the prohibition on importation of prison or
forced labor goods into the United States.

2) Require that the Name of the Factory that produced the product be on Customs Paperwork.
Currently a Trading Company can be listed as the Exporter and there is no way to know
where the products were actually produced.

3) If the importer of record’s certification is challenged, shift the burden of proof to the importer
to demonstrate that the factory producing the product was not using forced labor in the
production of the product and require it to assist in any inspection of the manufacturing
facility by an independent monitoring agency.

Without swift and clear action by the United States Congress, American companies will continue to go out
of business and American workers will continue to loose their jobs.

Thank you again for this opportunity and | look forward to answering any of your questions.

COMMISSIONER VIDENIEKS: Thank you.
Mr. Ellis, please. | forgot to give you the guidelines. It's
roughly seven minutes.

STATEMENT OF MR. DANIEL T. ELLIS, PARTNER
LYDY & MOAN, LTD., TOLEDO, OHIO

MR. ELLIS: That will just make me talk faster. Good morning.
Members of the Commission and staff, | appreciate this opportunity to
discuss the United States' relationship with the People's Republic of
China as it relates to the importation of forced or prison-made goods
into the United States and the difficulties faced by law-abiding
companies that comply with the laws of the United States by refusing
to import products made in whole or part by forced or prison labor.

My comments predominantly relate to Marck & Associates’
attempt to investigate the unlawful importation of ceramic products
made by forced labor into the United States and its efforts to stop the
practice so that the competitive commercial marketplace is not lost.

My statements reflect the experience of Marck & Associates over
the past three years in its attempt to shine light on the ceramic
products imported from Maolong and Luzhong related prison facilities.

Mr. Marck explained that Shandong Zibo Maolong Ceramic
Factory is the front for Luzhong Prison of Shandong Province.
Luzhong is a state-owned prison facility that produces 70 million
pieces of ceramic products per year. The importation of ceramic
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products manufactured at a prison labor facility such as Luzhong
offers a price advantage that cannot be met by companies complying
with the laws of the United States.

The inability of the United States and legitimate companies to
stop the importation of prison-made goods undermines the long-term
stability of companies and the competitive marketplace in America.

In 2005, after Marck confirmed that one of its competitors was
engaging in unfair business practices including importing ceramic
products produced by prison labor, they filed a lawsuit captioned G.G.
Marck & Associates, Inc. v. James Peng, Photo U.S.A. Corporation,
North American Investments Corporation, and Photo USA Electronic
Graphics, Inc., in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Ohio in the Western Division.

One of the competitive advantages obtained by the defendants
was they obtained the ceramic products from Maolong/Luzhong below
the price in which Marck could obtain and import a similar product
from a legitimate commercial factory.

Although the court awarded damages to Marck in excess of $1.5
million including sanctions for defendants' willful violation of a
permanent injunction related to various unfair trade practices, it
concluded Marck had not met its evidentiary burden of proof that
ceramic products introduced into evidence came from the Luzhong
Prison.

The causal connection that the mugs introduced into evidence
from Maolong were manufactured at Luzhong was frustrated by
Chinese classification of the information as a state secret. Any
witness brought to establish the connection would have been subject to
being accused of disclosing classified information and would have
faced criminal prosecution.

On August 9, 2006, Marck also made a formal request to the U.S.
Customs and Border Protection to conduct an investigation into what it
believed was the illegal importation of ceramic products manufactured
at the Maolong/Luzhong prison facility in the United States from
China for commercial use and resale in violation of 19 U.S.C. Section
1307. That section actually precludes the importation of prison-made
goods in whole or part.

Marck is aware that the U.S. Customs and Enforcement has
requested information from the Ministry of Justice, the People's
Republic of China, under the Memorandum of Understanding on their
relationship between Maolong and Luzhong so that Customs can
investigate and withhold the release of the prison-made goods if
warranted.

As of the date of this hearing, it is Marck's understanding that
the information has not been provided to ICE.
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On April 5, 2007, Marck filed a third-party complaint with the
Fair Labor Association, alleging a code of conduct violation at the
Maolong ceramic factory. Marck also asked that the FLA initiate a
certified independent factory audit to confirm the relationship between
Maolong and Luzhong Prison.

Marck outlined the facts supporting its contention that Maolong
is the front for the Luzhong Prison. The FLA declined to accept
Marck's complaint for review for procedural reasons, unrelated to the
merits of Marck's complaint, because according to its charter, a
Category C licensee is required to own or operate the factory.

Despite the FLA's concluding that at least one Category C
licensee was being supplied by Maolong and Luzhong, it determined
the complaint did not meet the requirements for initiating a third-party
complaint.

The FLA did inform the FLA's university liaison, Heeral
Coleman, so she could be in contact with relevant Universities and
Colleges.

If Congress or American companies are relying upon the FLA to
monitor factories in China to comply with its code of conduct relating
to prison labor, their trust is sadly misplaced.

Additionally, Marck requested the Workers Rights Consortium to
conduct an independent audit of the Maolong/Luzhong Prison to
evaluate whether they are related entities. The WRC has conducted an
investigation but has not yet released its report.

It is our belief that the WRC will ultimately conclude that
Maolong and Luzhong Prison are related entities.

As a direct consequence of Marck's efforts to show the
relationship between Maolong and Luzhong Prisons, the markings on
the cartons of imported ceramic products are being falsified to obscure
the factory in which the product has been manufactured.

Marck has observed cartons that do not identify the factory
which produced the ceramic products, cartons in which the Chinese
Commodity Inspection Bureau number does not match the factory
labeled on the carton, or the use of the CCIB numbers of factories no
longer operating.

The CCIB number is a requirement of importation of ceramics
under the Memorandum of Understanding between the Food and Drug
Administration and the People's Republic of China's Administration
pertaining to safety of ceramic tableware.

It also appears that trading companies located in China are
intentionally mislabeling the products so Maolong is no longer
identified as the manufacturer or the exporter.

Marck strongly favors increased enforcement efforts and makes
the following recommendations in whole or part to strengthen the
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United States' ability to prevent the importation of prison-made goods:

Prohibition of the importation of any good produced at a factory
identified in the Laogai Handbook by the Laogai Research Foundation
unless the importer of record comes forward with independent
certification that it is not a factory utilizing prison labor;

Require the importer of record to certify that goods were not
made with prison labor;

Prohibit the importation of any goods from a factory that U.S.
Customs is not permitted to inspect within 60 days of a request or that
the Ministry of Justice, People's Republic of China, has not certified is
not a front for a prison or related to a forced labor facility within 60
days;

Grant to companies a private right of action to initiate and
enforce custom regulations including the prohibition on the
importation of goods produced with prison labor. Require the
initiating party to notify the U.S. Customs and Enforcement Agency of
the filing of the complaint and provide the agency with the right to
take over the case within 60 days of filing;

Require the U.S. Customs and Immigration Enforcement Agency
to provide a governmental witness to certify that a factory is or is not
related to a prison factory in any civil law suit;

After a preliminary or prima facie showing that a factory utilizes
prison labor, shift the presumption and burden of proof in any civil
lawsuit to the importer to demonstrate that the factory is not related to
a prison factory;

Require all manufacturing facilities to be identified on the
carton and the import documentation provided to Customs so that it
can be checked against the Laogai Handbook or any other applicable
list of prison factories in China;

Define use of forced prison labor in whole or part as an unfair
business practice as a matter of law under the Lanham Act.

Domestic and foreign companies importing products in the
United States through lawful means need immediate assistance to
preserve the competitive marketplace and stay in business.

American workers are competitive with foreign workers if the
competitive market is not undermined by the importation of goods
manufactured by prison labor facilities. Swift and decisive action is
required to preserve American jobs and domestic companies by
leveling the competitive marketplace.

Thank you for the opportunity to highlight some of the
difficulties being faced by domestic companies in their effort to
compete in the global marketplace.
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[The statement follows:]?
PANEL I: Discussion, Questions and Answers

COMMISSIONER VIDENIEKS: Thank you very much.

I'd like to open up with some questions. Commissioner Wessel,
you have a question?

COMMISSIONER WESSEL: Yes, | do. Thank you for being
here, gentlemen. Harry, it's good to see you again.

Your case study provides some enormous information for us and
it's appreciated. I'd like to understand. Your self-help approach is
laudable but expensive. | assume you are not a Fortune 500 company.
I don't know that, but thus the resources you have to expend to try and
protect your company's interests are scarce and many others I'm sure
are not willing to expend similar amounts.

Can you tell me what kind of cooperation you've gotten from
your own government as you've done this? What priority do you think
our own State Department places on enforcing the agreement that, in
fact, it negotiated and, as Mr. Wu indicated, ten years later one of the
investigations was done which was supposed to have been done within
60 days?

Give us some flavor of how you've had to go about this self-help
measure, please.

MR. MARCK: As they say, you have to have principles and
sometimes you get burned by them, but it has been frustrating for a
number of years trying to comply with the laws of the United States
and at the same time having your competition being able to hide
behind this memorandum.

It's not enforceable and it's not--we had difficulty, as Mr. Ellis
has said, proving in a court of law something that it's hearsay. You
can't bring the parties. You can't go to the prison, et cetera.

We are looking at it from survival. We will eventually fail if we
all we have--if our only competition is forced labor in China or any
country. It doesn't matter what country it is. No voluntary labor can
actually compete with prison labor.

COMMISSIONER WESSEL: But if you could, also, the question
of what assistance your own government has given you? When you've
come with this information, have you found any assistance from State
Department or other entities?

MR. MARCK: No, no, very little. We have gone to U.S.
Customs, and I've actually gone to Beijing and met with the ICE agent
in charge. Okay. And they, I think they are frustrated too. They

2 Click here to read the prepared statement of Mr. Daniel T. Ellis
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don't have the ability to investigate these issues. So--

COMMISSIONER WESSEL: They've put it way down the
priority list.

MR. MARCK: Yes, and | think terrorism and other issues are
higher on the agenda, and | have no objection to that, but these are
issues that need to be addressed, but U.S. Customs is now Customs and
Border Protection and it's Immigration and Customs. It's all meshed
together. Homeland Security and 9/11 issues and child pornography
issues have a higher rating that ceramic coffee mugs being made with
forced labor in China.

COMMISSIONER WESSEL: | understand. Mr. Ellis, as a legal
matter--and it's been some time since I've looked back through the
Tariff Act and all its, the antecedents--an importer is a broad term and
not subject to a very discrete definition.

If an individual, a U.S. individual, goes over, for example, to the
Olympics this summer and were to purchase an item on the street, one
of these mugs, one of the mascots or anything else that might be the
product of prison labor, my understanding reading through all of the
materials that we've been provided in the basic statute is that
individual, in fact, could be in violation of the law for importing a
product made from prison labor.

Would that be your reading as well?

MR. ELLIS: 1 think that you have to have a commercial purpose.

COMMISSIONER WESSEL: Okay.

MR. ELLIS: So if you just bought it and brought it back, I think
you'd be okay. But you don't have to look that far. All you have to do
is go down to the coffee shop down here and look at the mugs in there,
and if you look at the bottom of the mug, it says "Decorated in the
United States.” It has no country of origin mark. It violates the United
States law.

COMMISSIONER WESSEL: You're saying in our own shops
here?

MR. ELLIS: Yes, if you just go right downstairs where | got
coffee this morning.

COMMISSIONER WESSEL: So the U.S. Senate might be in
violation at this point.

MR. ELLIS: They are. There's no country of origin marked that
discloses to the ultimate purchaser of the mug, which is whoever
bought that mug, where that mug came from.,

The inference is, because it's decorated in the United States, it
came from somewhere else, but where? Since it's a ceramic coffee
mug, if the FDA had to go trace back the cadmium or lead content
because it is in excess of the limits, how does it do that when it's not
been identified on the mug?
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COMMISSIONER WESSEL: Okay. Thank you.

COMMISSIONER VIDENIEKS: Mr. Slane.

COMMISSIONER SLANE: Mr. Ellis, first, I want to thank you
for taking the time to come here.

The real problem here is the causal connection; is that a fair
statement?

MR. ELLIS: Yes, it is.

COMMISSIONER SLANE: I'm struggling to try to figure out a
simplistic solution here. Can we recommend to Congress that if there
are mugs being sold at prices that are noncompetitive, that the burden
shifts to the importer at that point?

MR. ELLIS: Yes. |If you just took the position that after the
United States government has asked the People's Republic of China
under the Memorandum of Understanding to identify whether the
facility is a prison, and they refuse to give the information--like Harry
said it took ten years-- after 60 days there's a presumption that the
facility is a prison factory until you come forward and establish it is
not.

In a court of law, if that's what you're asking, that is the most
difficult thing for us to prove because there's indirect shipment. There
is no direct shipment from Luzhong to the United States. | mean the
Chinese government bans that. The United States government bans
that.

So what you have is trading companies coming into existence.
Maolong and others who buy directly from the factory, import it into
the United States, remark it, relabel it sometimes, mislabel it
sometimes in order to hide the connection to the Luzhong Prison. And
so if, and that's why | suggested in my closing statement that if you, as
an evidentiary issue, require the U.S. Customs to come forward and
say | requested and they didn't provide the information, so there's a
burden shift and a presumption that it is forced labor.

The importer is in the best position working with the factory to
get it certified as not a forced labor facility. That's why we asked the
FLA to do an independent audit because if you go in and you look at
Maolong, they don't have the mills to process the clay. They don't
have the facilities. They don't even have any purchase orders for clay.
It all comes through the prison.

They don't have storage facilities for their mugs. You can see
they're stored inside the prison, so it's difficult to get the information.
I can show that and say that, but the problem | encountered in my
litigation was the defendants took the position, well, Maolong says
they produce mugs too, and all mine came from Maolong, not the
prison.

COMMISSIONER SLANE: The problem here is the only way
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that this is going to be enforced is by private industry, people like Mr.
Marck who will go after companies that obviously are violating the
law here. It's amazing to me that you won the case in federal court
with the causal connection issue, but shifting that burden would be an
enormous help.

MR. ELLIS: It would, because the person that has the ultimate
ability to confirm the causal connection is the importer because they're
aligned in interest. The factory wants to import, the importer wants to
import, and so if they independently go to a facility and, you know,
like the Bureau Veritas has certified audits they can do establishing it
is not using forced labor in any of its production or materials. In our
case, they tried to get the Bureau Veritas to do a noncompliance audit.

And then they used that as, well, see, it doesn't use prison
facilities, but the Bureau never looked at the prison issue. If you
looked at even what the report said, they didn't look to see whether or
not the raw materials came from another prison or any part of the
product came from the prison facility, which as far as | can tell, given
the investigation we had, it all comes through Luzhong, and I'm not
sure Gary's right, whether they make mugs or they don't make mugs.
They appear to be more of a decorating facility.

But they go under the cover of, well, jeez, we say we produce 70
million. If you look at their advertising materials, they will tell you
they produce 70 million pieces. The prison also says they produce 70
million pieces.

The problem that Maolong has is that it only has one kiln and it
can only produce ten million, and in a court of law what | asked the
parties, well, where did the other 60 million come from, | have no
idea, and so | don't have any idea either except that they're right
across the street from a prison that has six kilns and can produce 60
million.

Now that isn't sufficient in a court of law because it's all hearsay
and a lot of it was precluded from being introduced.

COMMISSIONER SLANE: Thank you.

COMMISSIONER VIDENIEKS: Commissioner Mulloy.

COMMISSIONER MULLOY: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. | want
to thank all three of you for being here and giving us this very helpful
testimony.

Let me just lay out what | understand and then you help me. We
have a law on the books of our own country | think passed over 80
years ago that permits us to ban goods made by prison labor.

MR. ELLIS: They are banned. They can refuse the importation
of them. They can stop it at the border.

COMMISSIONER MULLOY: Yes, we can keep them out of our
country.
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MR. ELLIS: Right.

COMMISSIONER MULLOY: Under that law. And when we
entered the GATT and the WTO, we preserved the right to be able to
use that law so it's permissible for us to ban those goods under the
WTO.

MR. ELLIS: Right.

COMMISSIONER MULLOY: Now then the next question is why
isn't the law being enforced? You guys say that there are goods
coming in. Mr. Wu has documented this stuff in the past.

It appears that part of the problem is that the people who enforce
these laws may have some other priorities from what you said, Mr.
Marck. So what you recommend then is a private cause of action that
the people who are injured competing with these be able to bring.

Now, my understanding is under our antitrust laws, we do permit
private causes of action by people who are injured by antitrust
violations. The government is not the sole enforcer. |Is that your
understanding, Mr. Ellis?

MR. ELLIS: Yes, and it's true under the Lanham Act too, like
part of the reason we prevailed in the underlying action is under the
Lanham Act if you don't put the country of origin on the product,
there's a private right of action by individuals to enforce that.

One of the other competitive ways that they were getting an
advantage over us was they wouldn't have a country of origin, and they
could sell to any industries like we couldn't, like the United States
Congress. When we try to sell to the Congress, they don't want "Made
in China" on the bottom of the mug.

We can't do anything about that because it's required to be put
on it so that if you just took the Lanham Act and added to that
provision a private right of action saying that if you establish that
prison labor is used in whole or part, just like under 1307, then that's
an unfair business practice too, and an individual who is being harmed
from that can recover damages.

I would suggest that, in revising the Lanham Act, you make the
damages all of the imports because they're contraband.

COMMISSIONER MULLOY: 1 think you're going beyond my
capacity right now.

MR. ELLIS: Okay.

COMMISSIONER MULLOY: We have a law that permits us to
stop the stuff coming in.

MR. ELLIS: Correct.

COMMISSIONER MULLOY: You're recommending that we
provide a private right of action for the enforcement of that law?

MR. ELLIS: That's right.

COMMISSIONER MULLOY: But yet you brought a case in the
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District Court of Ohio and you won, at least part of it. That's what |
don't understand. If you don't have a private right of action to enforce
that law, on what basis did you bring that case in Ohio? Was it a
different law?

MR. ELLIS: It has three aspects, well, there were four aspects
in which we brought that case. We won three of them and lost the
prison labor one.

COMMISSIONER MULLOY: You lost the case of the goods,
that it was made by prison labor?

MR. ELLIS: Right.

COMMISSIONER MULLOY: You couldn't prove that.

MR. ELLIS: We couldn't establish the causal connection
between the prison and the Maolong in the products that we had in the
court.

COMMISSIONER MULLOY: Okay.

MR. ELLIS: It was clear--

COMMISSIONER MULLOY: Now that's not the Lanham Act.

MR. ELLIS: That's not the Lanham Act.

COMMISSIONER MULLOY: Okay. The Lanham Act is
something else.

MR. ELLIS: But when you're engaged in--what we tried to do is,
and it was a unique effort in which to try to enforce it because we
faced the standing issue of you cannot enforce a private right of action
to stop prison labor. That's a governmental function.

COMMISSIONER MULLOY: Right.

MR. ELLIS: You cannot stop lying to Customs on your
transactional values because that's a governmental function. Those all
have to be brought by the government in the Court of International
Trade.

But the Lanham Act and some Ohio statutes provide for unfair
competition, and what we argued was if you can utilize those acts to
demonstrate the conspiracy to engage in an unlawful act to get a
competitive advantage to the disadvantage of your competitors.

COMMISSIONER MULLOY: Okay.

MR. ELLIS: But, what ultimately happened was we have an
injunction in place that precludes the importation of the stuff.

COMMISSIONER MULLOY: Let me just ask you one more thing
because my time is coming to a close.

The simplified way to help you would be to provide a private
right of action to ban the importation of the goods made by prison
labor and then to fix the causal thing that Commissioner Slane was
talking about.

MR. ELLIS: Exactly. |If you say it's banned as an unfair
business practice and shift the burden to the defendant to establish it's
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not, you fix the problem I had in court.

COMMISSIONER MULLOY: Okay. Thank you. We're going to
have someone from the Customs Service come in here later and |
wanted to get it clear what you wanted. Thank you.

COMMISSIONER VIDENIEKS: Commissioner Fiedler.

COMMISSIONER FIEDLER: Does anybody believe that the
MOU is in any way effective? Mr. Wu?

MR. WU: If the American government really cared about the
MOU, it would work. But since the MOU was signed, | have not seen
any evidence of this. You see so many products made by prisoners. |
cannot find any other country where the prisons make so many
products. | found that Dun & Bradstreet lists every country including
the United States, including India, including Japan. There aren’t any
prisons listed over there. But China has 314, and 396 are listed on the
Dun & Bradstreet databases just as a prison name.

COMMISSIONER FIEDLER: 256.

MR. WU: Yes. This prison system provides big economic
assistance. According to Chinese law, each prison system has two
names. One is a prison name, indicating that it is a prison of the
province, or of the city, and the other is the enterprise's name, such as
a coal mine, or a manufacturer of whatever.

COMMISSIONER FIEDLER: | believe that Luzhong Prison was

listed in your Dun & Bradstreet report, as well, | think.
Do you want to answer my question?
MR. MARCK: | would agree that the Memorandum of

Understanding and the Statement of Cooperation because they're not
enforced are useless and actually encourage people to take advantage
of the situation, both exporters in China and importers in the United
States, because there's no enforcement.

So if somebody was speeding down the road and there's nobody
to give them a ticket, then nobody worries about the speed limit. So
likewise, there's no enforcement.

COMMISSIONER FIEDLER: So, hence, you suggest private
right of action. | understand that.

MR. MARCK: Yes.

COMMISSIONER FIEDLER: Now, let's talk about the 60-day
requirement in the MOU and in the SOC, which apparently has not
been lived up to even modestly, if | understand your testimony. There
was in one case you cited, there was a ten year gap between the
request for the visit, and in documents that I've been looking at, |
don't think | see anything quicker than five years where the agreement
says 60 days.

So the question then becomes on a political basis with the United
States, it seems to me, how do you create an environment where you
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get compliance with the 60 day thing? For instance, perhaps by
refusing entry to that product until a visit is allowed, which is, it
seems to me, our power to do, legislative power certainly to do, to
require.

I think it would require legislative power. We'll ask ICE that. It
may not. It may be only administrative detention because they
currently, by the way, it seems to me, you've gotten detention orders in
the past that are not the same level of evidence that you were required
to meet in court.

So we'll explore with ICE, | think, when they arrive, what the
differences are in the evidentiary requirements because it seems to be
you as a private individual or as a business have a higher level of
evidence to meet than does the government when it denies entry to the
product.

| see my time is running out.

MR. ELLIS: Can I just address that for a second?

COMMISSIONER FIEDLER: Yes, please.

MR. ELLIS: To deny entry is a lower burden, but once it's been
denied, it's required to be appealed up to the Court of International
Trade. And the Justice Department will face the same burdens I had.

There's a General Accounting paper that was published in 1995
regarding a memorandum of understanding that just suggests they're
not sure they could meet that burden either. | mean they would have
the same hard requirement | have to support what Customs has done
without the cooperation of the Chinese government to identify the
relationship.

COMMISSIONER FIEDLER: But there is a bit of a practical
problem for the importer, is there not, that it would take him a little
while to go through the International Trade Court procedure.

MR. ELLIS: Yes, that's why | suggest you--

COMMISSIONER FIEDLER: While his product is